HISTORY

OF

POPE'S CHAPEL

METHODIST CHURCH

WILKES COUNTY, GEORGIA

By

J. F. RUCKER

1952
HISTORY

OF

POPE'S CHAPEL

FOREWORD

WILKES COUNTRY PRIOR TO ORGANIZATION OF CHURCH

Around the year 1762 hunters and traders began to come into what is now Wilkes County and make settlements here and there. These people were known as squatters. There was at that time a squatter village located at the mouth of Coldwater Creek known as Edinburg. This village grew into quite a little town, but was washed away in 1796.

About 1762 soldiers were sent into this section and a fort was erected at the mouth of Broad River which was called Fort James. After the removal of the soldiers this place became known as Dartmouth, so named from the river itself, which until about 1780 was known as the river Dart. After the Wright purchase in 1772 this little settlement began to grow and later became known as Petersburg. Petersburg grew and prospered and was at one time an important commercial center, but nothing remains now of that once flourishing little city. It was also about this time (1772) that settlers began to come into this section, taking grants from the Government, usually from 50 to 250 acres. These settlers were mostly hunters, fishers and distillers and lived in log cabins. Very little of the land was cleared and cultivated at this time, but by the time of the Revolutionary War this section had become thickly settled.

After the close of the Revolutionary War returning soldiers from the Carolinas and Virginia gave glowing accounts of this section and
Their advertisement of the country served to bring immigrants from those states into this part of Georgia, which was then looked upon as almost being the Garden of Eden and the finest timbered section east of the Mississippi. About 1782 Virginians began to come in colonies. Very few of these were church people and seemed not to care for religious matters at all. Back in Virginia these people were unfriendly to the church because only church members had been allowed to vote and had been required to pay whatever amount the parson assessed.

This was about the situation in this section in 1785 when Beverly Allen was sent here. He failed to accomplish anything, and in 1786 Thomas Humphries and John Major were sent out. They established churches throughout this section.

Pope's Chapel

The society which was later organized into Pope's Chapel Church, which is now located near Broad River in the northern part of Wilkes County, was first organized in what is now Elbert County about a mile and a half northeast of Old Baker's Ferry on Broad River at the home of James Marks in August 1786 by Thomas Humphries. Foster was the Presiding Elder of the Georgia District at that time. He had been appointed to succeed Beverly Allen, who, as stated, had been sent out in 1785, but had failed to accomplish anything.

Richard Ivy was made Presiding Elder in 1787 and Humphries and Major remained preachers.

The Methodists met with great success here in 1786 and 1787.
Four hundred joined in 1786 and eight hundred were added in 1787, making a total membership of twelve hundred at that time. Up until this time Georgia and South Carolina were combined into one district. Now Georgia had become of enough importance to be made into a separate district at the Conference which was held in 1788 at Tate's house in what is now Elbert County.

When the Methodists first came to this section of Georgia there were only twelve places of worship of all denominations.

At the Conference in 1788 all of Georgia north and northeast of Augusta was laid out into the Washington Circuit. Richard Ivy remained presiding elder and Hope Hull became preacher of Washington Circuit, with James Connow to assist him. At this time Washington was but a small village in a prosperous country.

In 1789 Moses Parks was made preacher, with Wyatt Andrews as assistant. John Andrew was preacher in 1790 and Jonathan Jackson in 1791. Hardy Herbert was the preacher in 1792. Richard Ivy remained presiding elder during all of this time.

At the Conference in 1793 the district was re-united with South Carolina. The Methodists seemed to be losing instead of gaining ground at this time. It was for this reason that Georgia was put back into the South Carolina Conference, where it remained until 1830. The cause of the church's decline about this time seems to have been because the people were more interested in politics and in making money than religion. This was about the time of the Yazoo Fraud. Wealthy people of Virginia were selling out there and buying up lands and slaves here as the recent invention of the cotton gin was making cotton the staple crop and the money crop.
About this time Henry Pope came to the rescue of the church that was afterwards to bear his name. Elbert County had been cut off from Wilkes County, leaving most of the members in Wilkes County, so the church was moved over into Wilkes County and located about a mile from Baker's Ferry on the Baker's Ferry Road near what was later to be known as the Henry Hill place and named Pope's Chapel. It was so named for Henry Pope, who furnished most of the lumber to build the house. However, the house of worship was not dedicated until 1796. Bishop Asbury preached the dedication sermon.

About this time the circuit was not being supplied with regular preachers, but John Andrew and Hope Hull were both teaching school in Wilkes County and both preached on this circuit frequently during this time.

The General Conference met at Baltimore in 1796 and organized a plan for keeping church records, which had not been done theretofore. Arrangements were also made for the printing of church literature.

James Jenkins was made preacher here in 1797, while Enoch George was presiding elder. Samuel Cowles preached in 1798 and 1799, with Benjamin Blanton as presiding elder. Stith Mead was presiding elder in 1800, with Britton Caple and Buddy Wheeler preachers.

Lorenza Dowe preached at Pope's Chapel for the first time in 1802. While his headquarters were at Petersburg, he preached here often, as he did throughout the country.

In 1802, Broad River and Little River Circuit were organized in place of the Washington Circuit.

Bishop Asbury preached at Pope's Chapel in the spring of 1803 to a Sunday congregation of a thousand people.
STITH MEAD REMAINED PRESIDING ELDER DURING THIS TIME AND UNTIL 1805. RUSSELL AND MILLIGAN PREACHED ON BROAD RIVER CIRCUIT FROM 1803, TO 1805.

THERE IS NO COMPLETE RECORD OF PRESIDING ELDERS AFTER THIS FOR A WHILE, BUT W. M. KENNEDY PREACHED HERE IN 1806 AND 1807, ABDA CHRISTIAN IN 1808, OSBORN ROGERS IN 1809 AND 1810, AND JAMES RUSSELL IN 1811 AND 1812. THERE WAS NO CONFERENCE IN 1813, BUT IN 1814 JOSEPH TARPLEY WAS SENT HERE. IN 1815, TARPLEY WAS MADE PRESIDING ELDER AND ABNEY P. JONES WAS SENT AS PREACHER. TARPLEY AND JONES REMAINED UNTIL 1818. JONATHAN L. JERRY BECAME PREACHER IN 1819, ISAAC SMITH IN 1820 AND IN 1821, SAMUEL K. HODGES FOLLOWED FOR THREE YEARS, 1822, 1823, AND 1824. WILLIAM PARKS PREACHED IN 1825 AND 1826, BENJAMIN POPE IN 1827 AND 1828. (HE WAS A GRANDSON OF HENRY POPE, FOR WHOM THE CHURCH WAS NAMED). LOVICK PIERCE, ASSISTED BY WILLIAM PARKS, PREACHED IN 1829 AND 1830.

AT THIS TIME GEORGIA BECAME A SEPARATE CONFERENCE AGAIN.

FOR A TIME THEREAFTER INFORMATION IS NOT CLEAR, BUT WE WILL STATE THE PREACHERS AS BEST WE CAN FROM THIS TIME UNTIL 1839. STEPHEN OLIN PREACHED IN 1831, W. J. PARKS IN 1832 AND 1833, ISAAC BORING IN 1834 AND 1835, G. W. PIERCE IN 1836 AND A. H. MITCHELL IN 1837 AND 1838.

THE RECORD FROM 1839 TO 1884 WAS FURNISHED US BY MR. EMORY F. BOYD, A FORMER MEMBER OF POPE'S CHAPEL, FROM A RECORD KEPT BY HIS GRANDFATHER, BENJAMIN W. PORTSON. BENJAMIN W. FORTSON WAS BORN IN ELBERT COUNTY IN 1808 OF A BAPTIST FAMILY. HE WAS CONVERTED AT A METHODIST MEETING WHEN FOURTEEN YEARS OLD AND AFTERWARDS JOINED THE METHODIST CHURCH. IN EARLY MANHOOD HE MOVED TO WILKES COUNTY AND BECAME A MEMBER OF POPE'S CHAPEL CHURCH AND WAS A PILLAR OF THAT CHURCH FROM THEN UNTIL HIS DEATH IN 1884.
JAMES E. EVANS WAS PRESIDING ELDER FROM 1839 TO 1842. ALFRED T. MANN PREACHED IN 1839, THOMAS C. BENNING IN 1840 AND 1841, AND JOSIAH LEWIS IN 1842.

THERE IS NO RECORD OF PRESIDING ELDERS FROM 1842 TO 1845, BUT JOHN KNIGHT PREACHED IN 1843, A. J. LEET IN 1844, AND JAMES JONES IN 1845. GEORGE F. PIERCE WAS PRESIDING ELDER FROM 1845 THROUGH 1847. JOHN P. DUNCAN WAS PREACHER IN 1846 AND T. F. PIERCE IN 1847. JOSIAH LEWIS WAS PRESIDING ELDER FROM 1848 THROUGH 1851. JOSEPH H. ECHOLS PREACHED IN 1848, ADOLPHUS ORR IN 1849 AND W. H. EVANS IN 1850 AND 1851. JOHN W. GLENN WAS PRESIDING ELDER FROM 1852 THROUGH 1855.

JOHN L. DUNN WAS PREACHER IN 1852. IN 1852 POPE'S CHAPEL WAS MOVED FROM THE BAKER'S FERRY ROAD TO ITS PRESENT LOCATION. WESLEY P. ARNOLD PREACHED IN 1853, AND 1854 AND RICHARD LANE IN 1855, WILLIAM NORMAN IN 1856, AND JOHN TALLEY IN 1857 AND 1858, WHILE JOHN L. DUNN WAS PRESIDING ELDER IN 1856 AND 1857. THERE IS NO RECORD OF PRESIDING ELDER FROM 1858, BUT IN 1859 J. O. A. CLARK BECAME PRESIDING ELDER AND REMAINED SO UNTIL 1862. ALFRED T. MANN PREACHED IN 1858, T. T. CHRISTIAN IN 1859, AND J. M. DICKEY IN 1860 AND 1861. R. W. BIGHAM WAS PRESIDING ELDER FROM 1862 TO 1864. F. F. REYNOLDS PREACHED IN 1863 AND 1864. NO RECORD OF PRESIDING ELDERS FROM 1864 TO 1869. LEWIS L. LEDBETTER PREACHED IN 1865 AND 1866, WALTER R. BRANHAM IN 1867 AND JOHN W. HEIDT FROM 1868 TO 1870.

BROAD RIVER CIRCUIT WAS REVIVED IN 1868.

1878 through 1881. C. A. Mitchell was preacher in 1878, C. W. Conoway from 1879 to 1882, J. W. G. Watkins 1883 to 1885, John D. Hammond in 1885 and M. J. Cofer from 1886 to 1888. Jesse Boring was presiding elder in 1884 and Simon P. Richardson from 1886 through 1889. A. J. Hughes preached from 1889 to 1892 and Crawford Jackson in 1893 and 1894. H. H. Parks was presiding elder from 1890 through 1893 and Luke Johnson in 1894. R. B. O. England was preacher from 1895 to 1898 and W. P. Lovejoy was presiding elder from 1895 to 1897. We have no record of presiding elders again until 1901 but I think George W. Yarbrough was presiding elder during this interval. J. S. E. Emory was the preacher in 1899, Simeon Shaw in 1900, W. H. Cooper from 1901 to 1903 and W. G. Crawley in 1904. W. P. Lovejoy was again presiding elder from 1901 to 1904.

A new church, the present building, was erected in 1897. The dedication sermon was preached by Lindy Harris in 1898.

Sidney J. Bryan was presiding elder from 1905 through 1908. W. W. Brinsfield was preacher in 1905, J. T. Lowe in 1906 and C. W. Verdell 1907 and 1909. W. L. Pierce was presiding elder from 1909 to 1911 and B. P. Allen from 1912 to 1915. L. O. Winter was preacher in 1910, W. W. Benson 1911 to 1913, W. A. Simmons 1914 and 1915. S. P. Wiggins was presiding elder 1916 to 1919 and F. S. Hudson was preacher from 1916 through 1919. Dating from 1919 we haven't an accurate record of the presiding elders; but from that time until the present time the following have been the presiding elders in the order named: G. F. Venable; W. S. Robinson; J. L. Allgood; J. W. Veatch and C. C. Jarrell. Our records show the following preachers:
George W. Barrett 1920 to 1922
J. S. Hill 1923 and 1924
G. H. Bailey 1925 to 1927
W. A. Woodruff 1928
J. T. Rutland 1929
J. F. Farr 1930 to 1933
J. A. Griffies 1934 to 1935
J. G. Lupo 1936 to 1938
H. A. McNeill 1939 to 1940
H. B. Landrum 1941 to 1943
B. C. Matteson 1944 to 1949
J. H. Cameron 1950 to 1951

The present pastor, H. B. Duling, Jr. was sent to us in 1951.

The District Superintendents have been the following:

C. C. Jarrell 1935 to 1936
H. L. Byrd 1937 to 1938
(J. Foster Young acted as District Superintendent after the
M. M. Maxwell 1938
C. L. Middlebrooks 1939 to 1941
J. H. Barton 1942 to 1945
H. S. Smith 1946 to 1950
J. C. Calloway 1951

This completes the history of this church from its beginning
in 1786 with James Humphries as pastor to 1952 with H. B. Duling,
Jr. as pastor, covering a century and a half, a period of time that

ALSO EMBRACES THE HISTORY OF THE UNITED STATES FROM ITS BEGINNING TO THE PRESENT TIME.

DURING THAT PERIOD OF TIME MANY MEMBERS HAVE WORSHIPPED AT THE ALTARS OF THIS CHURCH -- SOME OF THEM SLEEP IN THE BURIAL GROUNDS OF THE CHURCH YARD -- MANY PREACHERS HAVE FILLED ITS PULPITS, SOME OF IMMINENCE AND OTHERS, BY FAR THE GREATER NUMBER, OF A MORE HUMBLE POSITION IN THE AFFAIRS OF THE CHURCH, ALL LABORING THROUGH TO FURTHER THE KINGDOM OF GOD AMONG MEN, AND WHO CAN SAY BUT THAT OF ALL WHO HAVE COME AND GONE DURING THE PAST CENTURY AND A HALF SOME WHO WERE ACCOUNTED LEAST AMONG MEN MAY NOT HAVE BEEN GREATEST IN THE KINGDOM, AND THAT THEIR NAMES SHALL HEREAFTER BE FOUND WRITTEN IN THE BOOK, TO WAKE TO EVERLASTING LIFE AND SHINE AS THE BRIGHTNESS OF THE FIRMAMENT AND AS THE STARS FOREVER AND EVER?

FOR THE EARLY HISTORY OF THE CHURCH I HAVE CONSULTED WHITE'S STATISTICS OF GEORGIA, HISTORY OF LORENZA DOWE, LORENZA DOWE'S JOURNAL, BISHOP ASBURY'S JOURNAL, GEORGE G. SMITH'S HISTORY OF GEORGIA METHODISM AND A FEW OTHER MINOR SOURCES...